No. 321924





DICERS

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Spokane County Cause No. 11-4-01394-6

In the Matter of:

ESTATE OF BETTY L. LOWE,

Deceased.

AARON L. LOWE, Son of Decedent

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

LONNIE D. LOWE, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Betty L. Lowe, Deceased,

Respondent/Appellee.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert E. Kovacevich, #2723 Attorney for Petitioner 818 W. Riverside Avenue, Ste. 525 Spokane, Washington 99201-0995 (509) 747-2104

I.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE5
	The Will and intent of Donald E. Lowe was disregarded8
	Both Lonnie and Lamp knew the cash hoard was not reported in Don's estate before it was closed; half the cash hoard should have been distributed to Aaron Lowe
	Half of the hoard should be included in Don's Estate
	Betty's Power of Attorney Prevented any Gifts to Lonnie. Lonnie gifted cash of Betty to himself over eight years16
	The hoard of Coins, Gold and Silver
	Lonnie never made any accounting; he was Betty's fiduciary 22
	The September 7, 2007 and September 11, 2007 Written Instructions
	The <i>Haviland</i> (177 Wash.2d 68) vulnerable adult facts were proven
	The U.S. Silver Coins
	Tortious Interference
	Amendment of Petition
	Attorney's Fees

III.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
IV.	ARGUMENT
	Introduction
	Lonnie should be removed as Personal Representative as he totally secreted his mother's assets and diverted them to him personally from 2003 on
	One half of the hoard should have been distributed to Aaron as Don's residuary heir
	The Written Instructions could not transfer U.S. silver coins, the hoard left was all U.S. silver coins
	The Power of Attorney did not allow the gifts to Lonnie Lowe44
	The abuser statute was violated; Lonnie Lowe receives nothing and must pay the estate
	The failure to allow the Second Amended and Supplemental Petition is reversible error
	Attorney's Fees
	Attorney's Fees under RAP 18.161
	Lonnie Lowe intentionally interfered with Aaron Lowe's right to inheritance
3.7	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Allard v. Pacific National Bank, 99 Wash.2d 394, 401-2, 663 P.2d 104 (1983)
Allen v. Hall, 974 P.2d 199 (Or. 1999)
August v. U.S. Bancorp, 146 Wash.App. 328, 341, 190 P.3d 86 (2008) 40
Bale v. Allison, 173 Wash.App. 435, 460, 294 P.3d 789 (2013)59
Bryant v. Bryant, 125 Wash.2d 113, 114, 882 P.2d 169 (1994)
Calbom v. Knudtzon, 65 Wash.2d 157, 396 P.2d 148 (1964)
Caruso v. Local Union 690, 100 Wash.2d 343, 670 P.2d 240 (Wash. 1983)
Denny's Restaurants, Inc. v. Security Union Title Ins. Co., 71 Wash.App. 194, 213, 859 P.2d 619 (1993)
Dingley v. Robinson, 149 Wash. 301, 270 P. 1018 (1928) 48
Estate of Aguirre v. Koruga, 42 Fed.Appx. 73, 2002 WL 1579746 *3 (9 th Cir. 2002)
Estate of Casey v. C.I.R., 948 F.2d 895 (4th Cir. 1991)
Estate of Lennon v. Lennon, 108 Wash.App. 167, 29 P.3d 1258 (2001)
Federal Rubber Co. v. M.M. Stewart Co., 180 Wash. 625, 630, 41 P.2d 158 (1935)
Foster v. Gilliam, 165 Wash.App. 33, 268 P.3d 945 (2011) 39, 40, 56, 60

Frohwein v. Haesemeyer, 264 N.W.2d 792 (Ia. 1978)
Goupille v. Chaput, 43 Wash. 702, 707, 86 P. 1058 (1906) 56
Green v. A.P.C., 136 Wash.2d 87, 960 P.2d 912 (1998)
Hadley v. Cowan, 60 Wash.App. 433, 804 P.2d 1271 (1991)62
In re Estate of Black, 116 Wash.App. 476, 66 P.3d 670 (2003)60
In re Estate of Burks v. Kidd, 124 Wash.App. 327, 333, 100 P.3d 328 (2004)
In re Estate of D'Agosto, 134 Wash.App. 390, 402, 139 P.3d 1125 (2006).
In re Estate of Jones, 152 Wash.2d 1, 93 P.3d 147 (2004)
In re Estate of Jones, 170 Wash.App. 594, 612, 287 P.3d 610 (2012)61
In re Estate of Haviland, 177 Wash.2d 68, 301 P.3d 31 (2013)26, 37, 52
In re Estate of Sherry, 158 Wash.App. 69, 240 P.3d 1182 (2010)
In re Gallinger's Estate, 31 Wash.2d 823, 829, 199 P.2d 575 (1948)46
In re Hamilton's Estate, 26 Wash.2d 363, 174 P.2d 301 (1946)45
In re Martin's Estate, 82 Wash. 226, 144 P. 42 (1914)
In re McCoy's Estate, 189 Wash. 103, 110, 63 P.2d 522 (1937)50
In re Wheeler's Estate, 71 Wash.2d 789, 797, 431 P.2d 608 (1967)61
Keck v. Collins, 181 Wash.App. 67, 325 P.3d 306 (2014) 56
Lind v. Frick, 15 Wash.App. 614, 617, 550 P.2d 709 (1976)38, 55

LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC, 181 Wash.2d 117, 123, 330 P.3d 190 (Wash. 2014)
Marshall v. Marshall, 547 U.S. 293, 301, 126 S.Ct. 1735, 164 L.Ed.2d 480 (2006)
Matter of Disciplinary Proceeding Against McMullen, 127 Wash.2d 150, 896 P.2d 1281 (1995)
Matter of Drinkwater's Estate, 22 Wash.App. 26, 587 P.2d 606 (1978) 59
Matter of Estate of Cooper, 81 Wash.App. 79, 92, 913 P.2d 393 (1996)
Matter of Estate of Larson, 103 Wash.2d 517, 694 P.2d 1051 (1985) 58
Matter of the Estates of Mathwig, 68 Wash.App. 472, 479, 843 P.2d 1112 (1993)
Matter of Estate of Shano, 869 P.2d 1203 (Ariz. 1993)
McCarton v. Estate of Watson, 39 Wash.App. 358, 693 P.2d 192 (1984)46
Pleas v. City of Seattle, 112 Wash.2d 794, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989)64
Quality Rock Products v. Thurston County, 126 Wash.App. 250, 273, 108 P.3d 805 (2005)
Rubenser v. Felice, 58 Wash.2d 862, 365 P.2d 320 (1961)
Scott v. Goldman, 82 Wash.App. 1, 917 P.2d 131 (1996)
Tamosaitis PHD v. Bechtel National, Inc., 182 Wash.App. 241, 327 P.3d 1309 (2014)
STATUTES
31 U.S.C. § 5103

FEDERAL CONSTITUTION

U.S. Const. art 1, § 8, cl. 4
STATE STATUTES
RCW 4.16.180
RCW 4.16.190
RCW 11.12.091
RCW 11.12.230
RCW 11.12.260
RCW 11.28.250
RCW 11.48.060, 07036, 37, 41, 48, 52, 64
RCW 11.84.010
RCW 11.84.02054
RCW 11.84.900
RCW 11.86.021
RCW 11.86.031
RCW 11.88.01054
RCW 11.94.050
RCW 11.96A.150
RCW 26.16.030(1)39
RCW 74.34.02051, 52, 54, 55
RCW 74.34.110
COURT RULES
CR 15(a)
CR 15(d)
<u>OTHER</u>
Diane J. Klein, "Go West, Disappointed Heir': Tortious Interference with Expectation of Inheritance- A Survey with Analysis of State Approaches in the Pacific States" 13 Lewis and Clark Law Review 209, 13 LCLR 209 (2009)

Price and Donaldson, "Price on Contemporary Estate Planning" § 2.4.4. page 2015 (CCH Wolters Kluwer 2014 ed.)
Price and Donaldson, "Price on Contemporary Estate Planning" § 4.16.4 page 4026 (CCH Wolters Kluwer 2014 ed.)
Price and Donaldson, "Price on Contemporary Estate Planning" § 4.19.4 page 4033 (CCH Wolters Kluwer 2014 ed.)
Price and Donaldson, "Price on Contemporary Estate Planning" § 4.36.1 page 4083 (CCH Wolters Kluwer 2014 ed.)
Merriam Webster Dictionary, 3 rd ed. 1981
Wikipedia, www.wikipedia.org. Google.com - current

INTRODUCTION

Donald Lowe ("Don"), father of Appellant, Aaron Lowe ("Aaron") and also Respondent, Lonnie Lowe ("Lonnie"), spent a lifetime hoarding 22 pure silver bars, each weighing 55 to 67 pounds per bar, four large bags of silver and gold coins containing an estimated 70,000 coins, of which well over half have been traced. Don hid them in a fireplace flume in the basement of the family residence. After Don died in 2003, Lonnie removed all he found and took them to his safe in his garage in Olympia, telling no one but his wife. Don's spouse, Betty, mother of Aaron and Lonnie, died in 2011. Lonnie contends he is entitled to all the plunder he took even though the parents wanted all three brothers to share equally. Lonnie was a financial abuser of his mother so he gets nothing under current law.

The trial court erred by allowing Lonnie to keep his secret and illegal alienation of gold and silver in complete defiance of testamentary intent as outlined in Don Lowe's will and the letter of intent to his children.

The case must be reversed and remanded so that the items taken can be distributed in accordance with Betty's and Don's wills.

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in Findings of Fact No.'s 19, 18, 14, 27, 28 and 35, CP 321-3, by allowing the United States coins to be distributed under the separate writing statute, RCW 11.12.260(1) and (4), which does not allow disposition of legal tender. Also, it did not define the recipients of the property or the property with reasonable certainty. Aaron's objections are at CP 195-229.
- 2. The trial court erred by failing to allow the Second Amended and Supplemental Petition and Findings of Fact No. 35, CP 37-53, 54-5, and Conclusions of Law 1, 2, 5, 9, 10, 11, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 22, 24, 25 denying tortious interference of Lonnie with Aaron's inheritance from his parents.
- 3. The trial court erred in Findings of Fact No.'s 22, 24, 34, 35 and failing to allow the Second Amended and Supplemental Complaint and by failing to deny any gift or inheritance to Lonnie from Betty as he was a financial abuser of Betty. CP 54-5.
- 4. The trial court erred in Findings of Fact No.'s 12, 13, 14, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 27, and 35, CP 321-3, by holding that Aaron did not inherit from his fathers will. Findings of Facts numbers 19 and 20, CP 321, are not

based on any evidence. Betty never told Lamp or her children about the gold and silver. VRP 469.

- 5. The Court erred in Findings of Fact No. 35, CP 323, and Conclusion of Law 21, CP 326, by denying the request to remove Lonnie as Personal Representative as Lonnie's owns testimony and that of the probate attorney provide no formal appraisal, a total lack of records of the cash hoard and a sale of thousands of coins of the hoard without a formal appraisal making it impossible and a total lack of accounting since 2003 by Lonnie as a fiduciary under a Power of Attorney to keep any records or balances whatsoever of money taken from the hoard.
- 6. The trial court erred by denying the Second Amended and Supplemental Petition. CP 54-5. Findings of Fact No.'s 34, 35, CP 323.
- 7. The trial court erred by ruling that evidence was not relevant to prove that Aaron inherited half of the unreported hoard from his father and allowing Betty's estate to claim the hoard. VRP 494. Findings of Fact No.'s 12, 13, 14, 3, 10, 20, 22, 24, 27, 28, 34 and 35. CP 320-3. Lonnie was a fiduciary as he acted in managing Betty's financial affairs under an immediately effective power of attorney executed in 2003. Betty Lowe suffered from dementia and addiction. VRP 132, 134, 428, 434. She was not

financially able to handle her finances from 1960 on. Finding of Fact No. 26, CP 322, is misleading as internally contradictory. Finding No. 23 is misleading as Lonnie did not return the tools until threatened with a lawsuit. VRP 164, 165.

- 8. The trial court erred in Findings of Fact No.'s 22, 35, 16, 19, and 29. Lonnie testified, contrary to Findings of Fact No. 29, that he took gifts of cash from Betty during her life, VRP 95-99, by holding that the burden of proof was not on the donee, and that Betty validly gifted cash and other assets to Lonnie even though gifts to Lonnie were prohibited under the power of attorney. CP 143. Ex. P-10.
- 9. The trial court erred by awarding attorney's fees to Lonnie when it was proven by Aaron that Lonnie never accounted for his mother's property as an attorney in fact or personal representative, and by accepting the proof by Aaron that no formal appraisal was ever made. The Court allowed Lonnie fees when he never prevailed in defending a formal appraisal or accounting. His attorneys represented him in conflicting roles as a claimant against the estate and as personal representative. CP 147, CP 232, CP 285, CP 353.

10. The trial court committed errors of law in Conclusions of Law No.'s 2, 10, 12, 13, 15, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26 and 34. Lack of evidence or lack of sufficient evidence to prove the facts found.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Donald and Betty Lowe had a long term marriage. VRP 397, Ex. R-115, Ex. R-116. Together they had four children; Larry, born September 5, 1951, Aaron born November 22, 1954, Rodonna, born September 22, 1956, died in 2002, and Lonnie born June 17, 1959. VRP 50, Ex. P-31. Don and Betty lived in Spokane in a modest residence at 2128 East Sharp, Spokane, Washington, during their marriage. The children lived there during their childhood. VRP 235. Don died testate on April 16, 2003. Ex. P-45, VRP 79. Betty died testate on October 1, 2011. Ex. P-19. The home is appraised at \$93,000.00. Ex. P-19. On August 14, 2006, Lonnie sent an email to his older brother, Larry stating ". . . I don't trust Aaron with anything, and I won't let Mom do anything he says. And I will fight him with everything I have." VRP 53-4, Ex. P-27. Lonnie testified that he made sure Betty, the boy's mother, signed a memorandum regarding tangible personal property. Lonnie contends that this memorandum gives him almost all of the Lowe Estate. "I told her that knowing Aaron, he would sue me, so she could go to Bob Lamp and have it done that way..." So it was Lonnie's intent from the beginning of his illegal actions to defraud the rest of the heirs of the Lowe Estate. VRP 323.

Lonnie, from 2003 through 2007, after his father died, secretly took large amounts of gold and silver from his parents home. He took this hoard of gold and silver by removing cinder blocks of a sealed fireplace foundation or flume in the basement of the parents' residence. VRP 68-9, 70-77, 79-80. Lonnie immediately took this gold and silver to his safe in his garage in Olympia, VRP 77-79. Lonnie told only his wife and no one else about his removal. VRP 80, 131. He has always kept the hoard in his personal possession. VRP 78. In 2011, Lonnie sold at least \$226,000 of the gold and silver he took. Lonnie intends to keep the money from the gold and silver he secretly stole. VRP 106, 83, 85. The well hidden hoard was valued by Lonnie to be at least \$430,000.00, but an independent family friend, Donald Poindexter, (hereafter Poindexter) helped Don hide the gold and silver in this secret hiding place inside the flume. Poindexter was the person who physically hid the hoard. Poindexter placed in the hiding place twenty-two (22) silver bars each weighing between 55 to 67 pounds, one (1) bank bag of gold Krugerrands, and three (3) bank bags of silver U.S. currency (before 1965). VRP 209-215, 218. The hoard was hidden in the late 1970's or early 1980's. VRP 217-8. The market value of these precious items in 2011 would have been several million dollars.

Poindexter suggested the hiding place to Don. Poindexter took out the block, lowered the hoard into the flume with a rope, and then resealed the flume with the hoard inside. VRP 212-14. Lonnie verified that there were canvas bags 8-10 inches wide and 12 to 16 inches long of coins. VRP 71-72. Aaron confirmed that the sacks were so heavy they were hard to lift. VRP 122. Lonnie admitted there were thousands of U.S. coins, VRP 74-5, but Lonnie never made a record at the time he took them or ever counted or inventoried the hoard. VRP 72. In 2011, Lonnie sold over 35,000 U.S. silver coins. Ex. P-21, VRP 87. No formal appraisal was made of the coins sold by Lonnie. VRP 71, 322, 111, 74-6, 98. Lonnie never made records at the time or thereafter and could never reconcile any balance of what he took and what remains. VRP 321-2. No formal inventory of market value of the hoard was made in Betty or Don Lowe's estates. VRP 479. There were thousands of coins that were never formally valued. VRP 473. Bob Lamp, attorney for the estates of both parents, VRP 387, admitted that no formal appraisal was made of the hoard. VRP 474. After the trial, the court ordered a formal

appraisal. CP 145. But the unverified appraisal was incomplete as it could not include the coins sold. It consisted only of a few coins Lonnie took to the coin shop. CP 334-7. Moreover, Lonnie never commissioned an independent accountant to list and catalogue what he secretly took from his parents home. VRP 325.

The Will and intent of Donald E. Lowe was disregarded.

Don's will (Ex. P-31, R-116) was admitted to probate on October 27, 2003, in Spokane County, File Number 03-4-01223-0. Ex. R-121, R-122. Moreover, Don wrote a letter entirely in his own handwriting entrusting Aaron with his property imploring Aaron to take care of his mother and after her death to split it equally among the three children. Ex. P-35. Don was Betty's husband for over fifty (50) years. Ex. P-31. The letter in part stated, "I have asked Aaron to take responsibility in looking after your mother. It may be necessary to sell whatever he can to care for her. Please help him care for her. After she is gone, I want everything else divided between you boys or sold and the money divided between you." Ex. P-35. Only Lonnie knew of this document and he kept the letter secret until sending it to probate Attorney, Bob Lamp, on August 18, 2003, but this letter was not forwarded to the other Lowe heirs until years later. VRP 316-7.

Don's will made specific bequests of musical instruments to family members. The rest of Don's estate was willed to Aaron to be distributed after Betty's death. Don's will gives Aaron the residue of his father's estate. Ex. P-31. Aaron was appointed personal representative of Don's will. VRP 145. Lamp, the probate attorney, petitioned the court to ignore Don's will. The Petition Lamp drafted (Ex. R-118) stated in part:

6. Residuary Estate. In his Will, the Decedent gives his residuary estate to the personal representative. But since he nominates a personal representative and two (2) alternative representatives, he (Don) probably did not intend to give the residuary estate outright to any of the nominated individuals. Since all persons nominated to serve as personal representative have declined to serve and have nominated the Petitioner's surviving spouse as personal representative, the Decedent's estate should be distributed to the surviving spouse as sole intestate heir. (Underlining added.)

The will at 5.3, page 2 of 5, directed Aaron as the personal representative, and the trustee, to be "liberal in charging my estate and trust" with expenses incurred. Page 2 of 5 states "For a period of nine (9) months following the date of my death, my personal representative may, but need not, disclaim or release all or any portion of a legacy, devise, bequest or power of appointment passing or created in one, unless already accepted by me." (Underline added.)

Until this trial in 2013, Aaron never saw the handwritten letter his dad wrote appointing him trustee of his dad's estate. VRP 146. The residue of the Don's estate was supposed to be given to the personal representative, Aaron. Page 2 of 5. Aaron, at Article 5 of Don's will admitted to probate, was appointed "as my personal representative."

The residuary clause at Article 4 states "I give all my remaining property in my estate not disposed by the foregoing provisions to the Personal Representative as appointed in Article 5 of this will." The trial court's conclusion, footnote 10, CP 136, is wrong. The will gave a definitive direction. Aaron "declined" to be personal representative, but he did not "disclaim" his inheritance under his father's will. VRP 153, 516. Lamp had Don's note since August 18, 2003. VRP 457. Lamp did not remember that he probated Don's estate. VRP 387. Lamp acknowledged that the residue of Don's will went to the personal representative, which was Aaron. VRP 480, 481, 489, 491-2. No cash, silver or coins were inventoried in Don's estate by Lonnie, Betty or Lamp. VRP 465, 469-470. The estate was closed in 2004 by Lamp. VRP 466. What Lamp wrote in the Petition in Don's estate, Ex. R-118, was completely contrary to Don's will and intent. This is also directly

contrary to Lamp's testimony that Don's will had a residuary clause. VRP 480-1.

Lamp was sought by Lonnie to draft a will for Betty. VRP 241-2, 386. After several requests, in the third deposition session of Lamp on August 6, 2013, a handwritten, undated letter written by Don was produced, which Lamp had in the probate files of Don. VRP 485. The letter states in part: "I have asked Aaron to take responsibility in looking after your mother. After she is gone, I want everything else divided between you boys or sold and the money divided (sic) between you." Lonnie knew of the letter at least on August 18, 2003, when he faxed it to Lamp, VRP 457, and testified that his mother found the letter in the hutch in the residence, but Lonnie and Betty kept it secret from Larry and Aaron. VRP 316, CP 26. VRP 138. Lonnie stated that the letter was not found until his dad died. VRP 330.

Lamp, in a completely false statement, testified under oath that he asked Aaron to sign a disclaimer and that Aaron signed a "disclaimer". VRP 481, 482. Lamp stated that a "declination" to serve as a personal representative would not be a "disclaimer". VRP 485. Lamp was asked by the court, at the trial in September 18, 2013, to search his records for Aaron's "disclaimer." VRP 485.

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