WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III



FEB - # 2010

COURT OF ARCHAES

INCOMES OF THE

STATE AT A STREET

In the Matter of:

ESTATE OF BETTY L. LOWE,

Deceased,

AARON L. LOWE, Son of Defendant,

Petitioner/Appellant,

VS.

LONNIE D. LOWE, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of BETTY L. LOWE, Deceased,

Respondent/Appellee,

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

GREG M. DEVLIN WSBA No. 7228 WINSTON & CASHATT, LAWYERS, 601 W. Riverside, Ste. 1900 Spokane, Washington 99201 Telephone: (509) 838-6131

> WILLIAM O. ETTER WSBA No. 42389 WITHERSPOON KELLEY 422 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 1100 Spokane, WA 99201

> > Attorneys for Respondent

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

Aaron has filed an appeal listing seven Assignments of Error, many of them appearing to be interrelated, and based largely on unsupported allegations regarding the existence of undiscovered assets, and the claims that the property was usurped by Lonnie and should have gone to Aaron via his father's wishes. However, it is undisputed Aaron's father's estate had been long since distributed to Betty and no challenge to it was properly made here. The evidence and law instead established that Betty's estate was properly distributed, and no basis existed to find that Lonnie engaged in any misconduct in relation to his mother while she was

'alive, nor in his relation to her estate after she died. As a result, no basis exists to overturn the trial court's findings and conclusions.

3. Law.

A trial court's findings of fact are subject to the "clearly erroneous" standard of review; a finding of fact is clearly erroneous when, although there is some evidence to support it, a review of all the evidence leads to a "definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." Schryvers v. Coulee Community Hosp., 138 Wn.App. 648, 654, 158 P.3d (2007). The Court of Appeals defers to the trier of fact for purposes of resolving conflicting testimony and evaluating the persuasiveness and credibility of witnesses. Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC, 161 Wn.App. 474, 498, 254 P.3d 835 (2011). A question of law is reviewed de novo. Id.

Here, Aaron challenges both findings of fact and legal conclusions, but provides no basis for this court to find error below. There is a presumption in favor of the trial court's findings, and the party claiming error has the burden of showing that a finding of fact is not supported by the substantial evidence. Norcon, 161 Wn.App. at 497. An appellant also has the burden to support its assignment of error of law with authority and legal argument. Riksem v. City of Seattle, 47 Wn.App. 506, 513, 736 P.2d 275 (1987). Aaron has not met these burdens; while many of Aaron's

claims are interrelated and thus continually duplicate the same underlying inaccuracies, Lonnie will address what appear to be the issues in the order of the Assignments of Error for the Court's convenience.

3.1 The trial court did not err in finding that the written instructions left by Betty Lowe properly distributed all her silver to Lonnie Lowe. [Assignment of Error No. 1]

Aaron fails to properly state the terms of the "separate writing" statute; by law, Betty Lowe's will and additional writing could (and did) dispose of any precious metals in her estate, including silver bars and coins.

RCW 11.12.260(1) provides that a will may refer to a writing that directs disposition of "tangible personal property" not specifically disposed of by the will. To be effective, the decedent's will must refer to the writing; the writing must be signed by the testator; and the writing must describe the items and the recipient "with reasonable certainty." RCW 11.12.260(1). "Tangible personal property" is broadly defined to include:

...precious metals in any tangible form, for example, bullion or coins. The term includes articles even if held for investment purposes and encompasses tangible property that is not real property. The term does not include...intangible property, for example, money that is normal currency or normal legal tender... (Emphasis added)

RCW 11.12.260(4).

It is undisputed that Betty Lowe's will properly referred to a written list of instructions for disposition of tangible personal property. (Trial Ex. P-15) It is further undisputed that the written instructions were signed by Betty Lowe on September 11, 2007, and left "to Lonnie O. Lowe any and all silver coins and bars to distribute as he shall determine or retain for himself." (Trial Ex. R-103) Thus, it is simply a matter of statutory interpretation to determine whether the instructions could leave the silver to Lonnie. See, Scheib v. Crosby, 160 Wn.App. 345, 350, 249 P.3d 184 (2011) (when an action turns on the correct interpretation of a statute, the standard of review is de novo).

The statute specifically allows precious metals to be distributed via such written instructions, even if in "coin" form; only "normal money" is exempted by statute. Contrary to Aaron's assertion that the silver coins are "legal tender," which could not be included in the written instructions, Washington's statute expressly includes them as tangible personal property. The coins were not "normal money" which had face value, but were instead investment type property not used as legal tender.

Aaron further asserts that the written instructions did not sufficiently identify the silver or the recipients, and thus the trial court erred by finding they were properly distributed under the written instructions. The writing itself identifies "any and all" silver coins and

bars; the use of the term "any and all" does not create any uncertainty or ambiguity. "Any" can include "some"; an "indefinite number"; and is often synonymous with "all" or "every"; "all" is defined as "the whole of." Black's Law Dictionary (5th ed.) Use of the terms together is broadly inclusive and could only mean each and every item of silver that existed at the time.³ This is what Betty intended, and what her attorney drafted to accomplish. (VRP 447) No inventory or listing is necessitated when the description is so inclusive. Moreover, Lonnie did inventory and identify the silver he sold after his mother's death, as well as that which remains in his possession. (CP 5-10)

Further, the recipient is sufficiently and specifically identified as Lonnie Lowe; that he was also given the right to distribute to others if he chose does not render the identification of the beneficiary unclear. It is a valid testamentary disposition to leave property to be disposed of at the discretion of another. See, In re Lidston's Estate, 32 Wn.2d 408, 418, 202 P.2d 259 (1949). Thus, the trial court did not err in finding the written instructions were enforceable under the relevant statute to pass all existing silver to Lonnie.

³ Any silver Betty disposed of during her lifetime would not be included in the distribution to Lonnie in accordance with the written instructions, and is irrelevant to the determination of this issue. (See, VRP 499)

3.2 No evidence exists that Lonnie Lowe tortiously interfered with his brother Aaron's right to inherit, or that the law supports such a claim. [Assignment of Error No. 2]

Washington has not explicitly applied the tort of economic interference to probate cases where a petitioner's claim for interference with an inheritance expectancy essentially works the same result as a will contest—overriding a will.⁴ Even if this Court were to recognize the tort of economic interference with respect to an inheritance expectancy, Aaron's burden of proof should remain that of a will contest—clear, cogent, and convincing,⁵ and no such evidence existed here. In fact, no quantum of proof was presented.

To succeed in a standard claim for tortious interference with economic expectancy, there must be clear, cogent, and convincing evidence: (1) the existence of a valid contractual relationship or business expectancy; (2) that the claimed interferer had knowledge of that relationship or business expectancy; (3) an intentional interference inducing or causing a breach or termination of the relationship or expectancy; (4) that the claimed interferer interfered for an improper

⁴ See, In re Estate of Hendrix, 2006 WL 2048240, at *16 (Wn. App. Div. 1). This case is not being cited for precedential value, but rather is offered merely to show how other Washington courts have addressed this claim.

⁵ Id. at *18.

purpose or used improper means; and (5) resulting damage. WPI 352.01; Hudson v. City of Wenatchee, 94 Wn. App. 990, 998, 974 P.2d 342 (1999).

The evidence at trial failed to show any of these required elements. While the Appellant's Brief discusses how such a claim may or may not be handled in other states or by other treatise writers, and what the burdens of proof may be in those instances these authorities are irrelevant here. Aaron fails to present any evidence of the necessary elements of tortious interference under Washington law, including any wrongful interference, or improper motive, to establish that the trial court erred. Aaron apparently bases his claim "on the entire record" and asserts that Lonnie "diverted 80% of the parents community assets to Lonnie." (Appellant's Brief, p. 62) However, he fails to establish that Lonnie took Betty's assets for his own use prior to her death, or did anything other than accept the distributions made to him in his mother's will and written instructions after her death. At trial, it was this conduct that Aaron claimed gave rise to his tortious interference claim:

- Q. Now, you know in this case that we've alleged tortious interference...[w]hat's your facts that you know of thinking that Lonnie interfered?
- A. Well, he took the - funds that I was supposed to have to have to look after my mother, and he used

them for himself. And that's how he interfered with the whole situation.

(VRP 148)

This evidence does not establish that Aaron had any lawful expectancy in his mother's assets, or that there was improper interference with her desired distribution. Betty was entitled to execute testamentary documents leaving her assets as she chose, and it is her choice of which Aaron complains. Barring evidence to support the necessary elements of the claim, the trial court did not err in concluding no proof was offered to establish intentional interference.

3.3 The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion to amend his petition two weeks before trial to add claims based on reopening his father's estate, which had been closed for over 10 years, or for new statutory claims of financial abuse. [Assignments of Error Nos. 3, 4, 6 and 7]

On August 23, 2013, Aaron filed, along with his trial brief, a Motion to file a Second Amended and Supplemental Petition, which alleged, for the first time, facts relating to the Estate of Donald E. Lowe and the purported rights of the parties thereunder, requesting that Donald's estate be reopened and assets distributed to Aaron. (CP 166-171; CP 37-53) It further alleged that Lonnie "cannot inherit from Betty L. Lowe as he is disqualified as her Abuser," apparently attempting to add claims under the "Vulnerable Adult Act," and the "Inheritance Rights of Slayers

and Abusers," RCW 11.84.010 et seq., and RCW 74.34.010 et seq. (CP 47-49)

Lonnie opposed the motion to amend because it was untimely, unfairly prejudiced him, and was futile, as it related to Donald's estate, which could not be reopened. (Respondents' Supp. CP ____; Superior Court Docket #78) The trial court properly denied leave to amend, which eliminated Aaron's claims relating to his father's estate, and Lonnie's alleged "financial abuse" of his mother to preclude inheritance. (CP 55-56) The fact that the probate of Donald's estate was not at issue undermines the majority of Aaron's claims of error, which are based in large part on his claim that he was entitled to have inherited his father's property, and that his mother never had proper possession of it, and thus she could not use or distribute it via testamentary documents.

At trial, the court allowed some testimony regarding Donald's estate to confirm that there existed no basis to reopen it. These findings were properly supported by the evidence; while not necessarily before the court, this evidence further establishes the lack of any basis for Aaron to claim the right to his mother's property obtained in the probate of his father's will.

(a) The motion to amend was properly denied.

A trial court "should" deny a motion to amend a pleading if the amendment would prejudice the opposing party. <u>Ives v. Ramsen</u>, 142 Wn.App. 369, 387, 174 P.3d 1231 (2008). In determining whether prejudice would result, the court can consider potential delay, unfair surprise, or the introduction of remote issues. <u>Karlberg v. Otten</u>, 167 Wn.App. 522, 529, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012).

The trial court has discretion to deny a motion to amend when it is made close to trial. See, Ensley v. Mollmann, 155 Wn.App. 744, 230 P.3d 599 (2010) (motion to amend denied when made after significant motions, 10 months after depositions, and two months before scheduled trial); Tex Enterprises, Inc. v. Brockway Standard, Inc., 110 Wn.App. 197, 39 P.3d 362 (2002), rev'd on other grounds, 149 Wn.2d 1014 (2003) (motion to amend denied when made one week after discovery closed and two weeks before trial); Elliott v. Barnes, 32 Wn.App. 88, 92, 645 P.2d 1136 (1982) (leave to amend properly denied when motion came one week before trial date).

When a party has already determined and disclosed its witnesses, and its defenses were based on the original claims, the trial court does not abuse its discretion in denying a motion to amend made less than three months before the trial date. See, Donald B. Murphy Contractors, Inc. v. King County, 112 Wn.App. 192, 199-200, 49 P.3d 912 (2002).

The prejudice to Lonnie and the Estate was apparent. They could not meet and challenge the new claims and allegations made in the Second Amended Petition less than three weeks before trial. The claims relative to the Vulnerable Adult Act and Inheritance Rights of Slayers and Abusers statute had multiple elements of proof, necessary findings, defenses, significantly different discovery, potential experts, different witnesses, different legal research and preparation, and the potential for dispositive motion practice prior to trial. See, RCW 11.84.010 et seq.; RCW 74.34. et seq.

The same was true of any new claims surrounding the disposition of Donald Lowe's Estate. Dispositive motions would have needed to be entertained, and evidence regarding that distribution would have needed to be established. Respondents could not be required to face an entirely different case than the one currently scheduled for trial in three weeks.

Moreover, a court may consider whether an amendment is futile. Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue, 132 Wn.2d 103, 142, 937 P.2d 154 (1997). And when it is obvious from the record why an amendment would have been futile, the trial court does not abuse its discretion in denying it. Snohomish Regional Drug Task Force v. 414 Newberg Rd., 151 Wn.App.

743, 761, 214 P.3d 928 (2009). Donald Lowe's probate closed in 2004, and the statute of limitations has long since run on any claims relative to the distribution of that estate. A challenge to the distribution of an estate's assets must be made within four months of such probate. RCW 11.24.010; In re Estate of Kordon, 157 Wn.2d 206, 214, 137 P.3d 16 (2006) (court has no jurisdiction to hear probate contest begun after time fixed in statute has expired). Adding any claim relative to the distribution of Donald's estate assets to his wife Betty was thus futile, and would have been subject to dismissal.

Aaron's attempt to add claims that Lonnie could not inherit as an "abuser" of a vulnerable adult was similarly futile. A cause of action for damages under the Vulnerable Adult Act is limited to defendants providing home or facility health type care, and is to be brought by the vulnerable adult. See, RCW 74.34.200. Lonnie was not a health or services care provider, and Betty could not bring the action. Moreover, under the "Abuser Inheritance" Act," one of the necessary elements is to have a "vulnerable adult" as defined by RCW 74.34.010(17). Aaron's Second Amended Petition did not sufficiently plead that Betty qualified by being functionally, mentally or physically unable to care for herself, was under guardianship, or receiving other skilled care. Id. Instead, it generally pled that she had not been allowed to manage finances by her

husband, who died in 2003. Betty was not "vulnerable" as defined by the statute and the claim would be futile.

Thus, Aaron's Second Amended Petition was untimely, would have prejudiced the opposing parties, and was likely futile. There simply existed no good cause to allow it. As a result, the court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Second Amended and Supplemental Petition, and claims regarding the improper distribution of Donald's estate were not before the trial court.

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